Case #: 1028946

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
3/22/2024 9:13 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/25/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURTNO.

NO. 56944-2-Ⅱ

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re Detention of Derwin Pasley,

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

DERWIN PASLEY,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Carol Murphy, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ERIN MOODY
Attorney for Petitioner
NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC
The Denny Building
2200 Sixth Avenue, Suite 1250
Seattle, Washington 98121
206-623-2373

B.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
	1. At Mr. Pasley's Commitment Trial, the State Alleged His Encounter with K.R. was a Recent Overt Act 5
	2. The Trial Court Found Mr. Pasley's Encounter with K.R. was an ROA; the Court of Appeals Affirmed, Holding that Consent was Irrelevant to the ROA Determination 8
D.	REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 19
Ε.	CONCLUSION 24

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page
WASHINGTON CASES
<u>Det. of Albrecht</u> 147 Wn.2d 1, 51 P.3d 73 (2002)
<u>Det. of Anderson</u> 166 Wn.2d 543, 211 P.3d 994 (2009)21, 22, 23, 24
<u>Det. of Brown</u> 154 Wn. App. 116, 225 P.3d 1028 (2010)
<u>Det. of Henrickson</u> 140 Wn.2d 686, 1 P.3d 473 (2000)
<u>Det. of Leck</u> 180 Wn. App. 492, 334 P.3d 1109 (2014)6
<u>Det. of Lewis</u> 163 Wn.2d 188, 177 P.3d 708 (2008)
<u>Det. of Thorell</u> 149 Wn.2d 724, 72 P.3d 708 (2003)
<u>Detention of Froats</u> 134 Wn. App. 420, 140 P.3d 622 (2006)
<u>In re Barr</u> 102 Wn.2d 265, 684 P.2d 712 (1984)
<u>In re Harris</u> 98 Wn.2d 276, 654 P.2d 109 (1982)

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D) Page In re Young FEDERAL CASES Foucha v. Louisiana 504 U.S. 71, 112 S. Ct. 1780, 118 L. Ed. 2d 437 (1992)....... 19 Humphrey v. Cady 405 U.S. 504, 92 S. Ct. 1048, 31 L. Ed. 2d 394 (1972)........... 19 RULES, STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES RCW 71.09....... RCW 71.09.060......6

A. PETITIONER AND COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Derwin Pasley, the respondent below, moves this Court for the relief designated in section B.

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Pursuant to RAP 13.4, Mr. Pasley seeks review of the Court of Appeals' opinion (Op., attached), filed November 21, 2023 (reconsideration denied February 22, 2024), affirming his civil commitment under chapter 71.09 RCW, the Sexually Violent Predator Act (SVPA). The published opinion holds that consensual sexual activity may constitute a "recent overt act" justifying indefinite civil commitment.

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Pasley was born and raised in Miami, Florida, in a deeply religious family. Ex. 29 at 7, 10-11. When he was 20 years old, Mr. Pasley joined the military and was transferred to California, then South Carolina, and eventually to Washington State. Ex. 29 at 7-9. There, Mr. Pasley completed his active duty, got married, and received his bachelor's degree in general

ministries, planning to become a church administrator. Ex. 29 at 9-10, 80. He ultimately gave up on that aspiration, however, because he committed several offenses that he later described as thoughtless, selfish, and "violat[ing] a number of moral and ethical obligations." Ex. 29 at 11, 57-59.

Between 2002 and 2009, Mr. Pasley worked and volunteered in various jobs involving youth: as a middle school football coach; a choir director, worship leader, and janitor at a church; and a paraeducator. Ex. 29 at 40, 43-44, 65-66, 68-71, 81-85. In 2010, he pleaded guilty to three counts of child molestation, involving three named victims. Ex. 1 at 1-5. All were middle school-aged boys, and all alleged Mr. Pasley had touched them sexually, over their clothing, disguising his actions as playful roughhousing. Ex. 29 at 52, 54-55, 68-76; RP (April 18, 2022) at 38-43, 50-5.

Mr. Pasley served an exceptional sentence of sentence of 150 months for these offenses, followed by 36 months of community custody. Ex. 1 at 3-5.

Mr. Pasley entered sex offender treatment for the first time in 2017, while he was incarcerated. Ex. 29 at 64. He described this experience as transformative:

[O]ne of the things that we dealt with in treatment is our offending . . . behaviors, and taking responsibility for our actions. And so after going through that process, I had to - - my goal in life is to continue to be truthful to who I am as a person and to who I am, and part of my truth, had to - - I had to take accountability for my actions with [my victims.]

Ex. 29 at 63-64.

When he was released to community custody in 2018, Mr. Pasley began treatment with Sharese Jones, a psychologist specializing in cognitive and dialectical behavioral therapy for sex offenders. RP (April 21, 2002) at 591-94. Ms. Jones treated Mr. Pasley for 17 months and considered him a model client. RP (April 21, 2002) at 595, 598-99. She worked with Mr. Pasley to resolve his feelings of conflict over his sexual orientation, and his impulsiveness, and she considered him to have made significant progress. RP (April 21, 2002) at 600-01, 605-09.

When Mr. Pasley graduated from his required treatment after one year, he continued voluntarily for several more months. RP (April 21, 2002) at 604. During this time, Mr. Pasley experimented with using dating apps, and he sought Ms. Jones's advice about how to make "a healthy partner choice." RP (April 21, 2002) at 604.

In November of 2020, Mr. Pasley entered <u>In re Barr¹</u> pleas to two counts of third-degree assault, negligence. Ex. 2 at 1. The court imposed 18 months of confinement, followed by a year of community custody. Ex. 2 at 4-5. These pleas arose from Mr. Pasley's sexual encounter with an 18-year-old named K.R., who was friends with Mr. Pasley's nephew. Ex. 32 at 10; Ex. 29 at 86-87, 91-105. In his plea statement Mr. Pasley agreed that he "did intentionally touch [K.R.] in an offensive manner," but he

¹ 102 Wn.2d 265, 684 P.2d 712 (1984). In an <u>In re Barr</u> plea, the defendant accepts a conviction for an offense for which there is no factual basis, in exchange for dismissal of greater charges for which a factual basis exists. <u>Id</u>. at 270.

otherwise steadfastly maintained that their encounter was consensual. Ex. 32 at 10; Ex. 29 at 86-87, 91-105.

Before Mr. Pasley completed his term of confinement, the State filed a petition seeking his civil commitment as a sexually violent predator (SVP). CP 1-2.

1. At Mr. Pasley's Commitment Trial, the State Alleged His Encounter with K.R. was a Recent Overt Act

To involuntarily commit a person as an SVP, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the person:

has been convicted of or charged with a crime of sexual violence and . . . suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder which makes the person likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility.

RCW 71.09.020(19), .060(1).

In addition to proving these criteria, the State is also required to prove the defendant committed a "recent overt act" (ROA), which is an act that *either* (1) causes harm of a sexually violent nature *or* (2) creates a reasonable apprehension of such harm. In re Young, 122 Wn.2d 1, 40-42, 857 P.2d 989 (1993),

superseded by statute on other grounds as stated in Det. of Thorell, 149 Wn.2d 724, 72 P.3d 708 (2003); RCW 71.09.020(13).

Where the respondent was released to the community when the State filed the SVP commitment petition, the State must prove that, in addition to "the prior sexually violent offense that forms the basis for the petition," the respondent also committed an ROA. Albrecht, 147 Wn.2d at 8-11. The SVPA requires the State to prove this at trial, beyond a reasonable doubt. RCW 71.09.060(1); Det. of Lewis, 163 Wn.2d 188, 194, 177 P.3d 708 (2008).

Where the respondent is incarcerated when the State files the petition, the State can satisfy the ROA requirement by proving that the conduct leading to the incarceration meets the definition of an ROA. Albrecht, 147 Wn.2d at 8-11; Det. of Henrickson, 140 Wn.2d 686, 695-96, 1 P.3d 473 (2000). The SVPA requires the trial court to make this legal determination pretrial, if possible, on the basis of facts already established by prior plea or adjudication. Det. of Leck, 180 Wn. App. 492, 509-10, 334 P.3d 1109 (2014); Det. of Brown, 154 Wn. App. 116, 129, 225 P.3d 1028 (2010).

In its petition to civilly commit Mr. Pasley, the State alleged his encounter with K.R. constituted an ROA. CP 2. It moved pretrial for a ruling to that effect "as a matter of law, thereby relieving Petitioner of proving at trial that the behavior constitutes an ROA." CP 694.

Before ruling on the State's motion, the trial court reviewed several documents related to the alleged ROA, including a transcript of K.R.'s initial law enforcement report; the declaration of probable cause supporting the initial charges of indecent liberties (three counts) and third-degree rape; the amended information charging two counts of third-degree assault; Mr. Pasley's plea statement in that case; the resulting felony judgment and sentence; and the transcript of Mr. Pasley's November 20, 2020, plea colloquy and sentencing in the case. CP 212-28, 254-332, 828-61.

These materials indicated there was never a factual basis for the indecent liberties counts and that K.R. never expressed nonconsent in his encounter with Mr. Pasley. CP 222-26, 834, 838.

The trial court denied the State's motion for a pretrial ROA determination, correctly concluding that this determination would require the resolution of numerous disputed facts. RP (Feb. 25, 2022) at 26-27; RP (Mar. 25, 2022) at 9.

2. The Trial Court Found Mr. Pasley's Encounter with K.R. was an ROA; the Court of Appeals Affirmed, Holding that Consent was Irrelevant to the ROA Determination

Mr. Pasley proceeded to a bench trial on the State's civil commitment petition.

The State presented testimony from three witnesses: P.D.,² one of the named victims in Mr. Pasley's 2010 guilty pleas to child molestation; Detective Howard Reynolds, who investigated the

² At the time of the civil commitment trial, Mr. Pasley denied committing any offenses against P.D. Ex. 29 at 86. But he readily admitted his offenses against the other two named victims of child molestation. Ex. 29 at 55, 77.

allegations involving K.R.; and Dr. Erik Fox, the State's expert.

The State also played excerpts from Mr. Pasley's recorded deposition, in its case-in-chief. RP (Mar. 18, 2022) at 8-14.

P.D. testified consistent with his allegations in 2009. RP (April 18, 2022) at 32-56.

Detective Reynolds testified that K.R. appeared to him to be similar to a boy of 13 or 14 years old, because K.R. was shy, had braces, and was 5 foot 7.5 inches and 140 to 150 pounds. RP (April 20, 2022) at 318-19. The detective also testified that he determined K.R. should be interviewed by a facility that specializes in interviewing children and people with disabilities. RP (April 20, 2022) at 304.

Detective Reynolds said that, when the State contacted him in December of 2021, for a picture of K.R., he searched K.R.'s Facebook page and selected the youngest-looking photo posted there. RP (April 20, 2022) at 325-32. That photo, and the broader collection from which he selected it, were entered into evidence. RP (April 20, 2022) at 324-32; Ex. 7, 520, 521.

Dr. Fox testified that he had diagnosed Mr. Pasley with "other specified paraphilic disorder with specifier of deviant interest in pubescent aged males" and "other specified personality disorder" with antisocial and narcissistic features. RP (April 18, 2022) at 86, 112-139. And he testified that his actuarial analyses assigned Mr. Pasley an "absolute recidivism risk" of 47.4 percent in ten years, and 56 percent in 20 years. RP (April 19, 2022) at 193-96, 272.

Dr. Fox did not offer an opinion as to whether Mr. Pasley's encounter with K.R. constituted an ROA. RP (April 19, 2022) at 202. But he did testify that he perceived "parallels" between that encounter and Mr. Pasley's pre-treatment offenses. RP (April 19, 2022) at 202. He said that, like all the pre-treatment victims, K.R. was shy, softspoken, vulnerable, and had an absent father. RP (April 19, 2022) at 202; see Ex. 29 at 61, 78, 85; RP (April 18, 2022) at 36.

Dr. Fox acknowledged that that the DSM defines "pubescent" as "typically 13 or younger," that Mr. Pasley's

adjudicated child molestation victims were "pubescent," and that K.R. was presumably "postpubescent," given his age. RP (April 19, 2022) at 208-09. He also testified that he had no knowledge of K.R.'s IQ, had never met K.R., and did not know whether he had any specific diagnosis. RP (April 19, 2022) at 210. However, based on the fact that K.R. had an "individual education plan" (IEP), which qualified him to play on a Special Olympics basketball team, on statements by K.R.'s mother that he had difficulty with reading and writing, and on Detective Reynolds's opinion that K.R. was shy and softspoken, Dr. Fox opined that he was similar to Mr. Pasley's pubescent victims. RP (April 19, 2022) at 118, 202, 210-11.

In his deposition, Mr. Pasley described his earlier offending behavior as thoughtless and selfish, and he said he now knew that—no matter what he believed at the time—there was no way a child could consent to sexual contact with an adult. Ex. 29 at 57-59, 77, 79-80.

Mr. Pasley said he offended against children because he wanted a sexual connection with a male but was afraid an adult "would eventually reveal my actions to my spouse or anyone else that I knew." Ex. 29 at 81.

In contrast to his offenses against pubescent victims, Mr. Pasley described his encounter with K.R. as consensual. He said he met K.R. in January of 2020, when he came to Mr. Pasley's home to watch the Super Bowl with Mr. Pasley's nephew. Ex. 29 at 86-87. He said he chatted with K.R. that day, but not about anything sexual. Ex. 29 at 88. At some point, he asked K.R. how old he was, and K.R. said he was about to turn 19. Ex. 29 at 97-98.

K.R. next came to Mr. Pasley's house about two weeks later and spent three nights there. Ex. 29 at 88-89. Mr. Pasley described his nephew as "diagnosed as being mentally retarded," and said K.R. met his nephew because both played for a Special Olympics basketball team. Ex. 29 at 89.

On the second night of his visit, Mr. Pasley asked K.R., "Did he get down?" Ex. 29 at 91-92. He said this was a way of asking whether a person "has a fluid lifestyle," and that K.R. said he did. Ex. 29 at 91. Mr. Pasley said he had expected this response, based on K.R.'s mannerisms and style of dress. Ex. 29 at 94-95. After that, the two men "touched each other . . . [and] fondled each other's penises." Ex. 29 at 92. Mr. Pasley said this happened early in the morning, before he left for work, and that K.R. was a willing participant in the contact. Ex. 29 at 92, 95-96.

The following night, the two men engaged in sexual contact again, briefly. Ex. 29 at 101-03. Mr. Pasley said he ended that encounter because he was tired, and that soon after he saw K.R. on the phone, appearing distraught and crying. Ex. 29 at 103. Mr. Pasley told him he was "here for you if you need something," but K.R. said he was good, so Mr. Pasley went back to his bedroom. Ex. 29 at 103-04. Sometime later, Mr. Pasley awoke to the home's alarm sounding. Ex. 29 at 104-05. He went upstairs and found that K.R. had left via the front door. Ex. 29 at 105.

Mr. Pasley presented testimony by Ms. Jones, his treatment provider, and Dr. Brian Abbott, the defense expert. RP (April 20, 2022) at 348-438; RP (April 21, 2022) at 447-627.

Ms. Jones acknowledged some concerns, regarding one "impulsive" sexual encounter Mr. Pasley had with an adult male at his gym after completing his required treatment, and about Mr. Pasley's "concentrating more on younger-looking men inside and outside of group." RP (April 21, 2022) at 623-24. And, when deposed, she said she was not sure Mr. Pasley was completely forthcoming with her. RP (April 21, 2022) at 625.

But Ms. Jones opined that Mr. Pasley understood the risks associated with his interest in younger men, even if he had not fully "internalized" that understanding. RP (April 21, 2022) at 624-25. And she gave him a positive evaluation upon his discharge from treatment. RP (April 21, 2022) at 598-612. This evaluation credited Mr. Pasley with providing good feedback to other group members, demonstrating solid compliance with treatment and supervision conditions, reliably disclosing incidental contact with

minors and details of his sex life, working to resolve his internal conflict over his sexual orientation, and overall cultivating a strong therapeutic relationship. RP (April 21, 2022) at 598-612.

Consistent with Ms. Jones's testimony, Dr. Abbott opined that Mr. Pasley had made significant progress in treatment. He also testified that he did not believe Mr. Pasley had either a mental abnormality or personality disorder. RP (April 20, 2022) at 418-38. Instead, he believed Mr. Pasley's sex offenses were motivated by deeply conflicted feelings about his same-sex attraction, that he had engaged in "common types of cognitive distortions" to justify offending against children, and that he had successfully confronted those distortions in treatment. RP (April 20, 2022) at 368-75.

Dr. Abbott disagreed with Dr. Fox's actuarial analysis. RP (April 21, 2022) at 469-72.

Dr. Abbott also opined that the incident involving K.R. was unlike Mr. Pasley's offenses prior to treatment. RP (April 20, 2022) at 406. Specifically, he testified that Mr. Pasley regarded K.R. as a peer, with whom he did not seek contact to assert power

or control or to escape feelings of shame about same-sex attraction. RP (April 20, 2022) at 407-10. Dr. Abbott acknowledged that the incident with K.R. reflected some cognitive distortions. RP (April 21, 2022) at 584. But he said this the incident was fundamentally different from the offenses involving minors, and he opined that treatment had given Mr. Pasley insight into the harm those offenses had caused. RP (April 20, 2022) at 371-72.

Dr. Abbott rejected the notion that K.R. had the mental capacity of a child. RP (April 20, 2022) at 405-06. He testified that K.R. was able to communicate clearly and understand complicated terms, and that he demonstrated life skills typical of a young adult. RP (April 20, 2022) at 405-06. Consistent with Det. Reynolds's testimony that he selected the youngest-looking picture of K.R. from the Facebook account, Dr. Abbott noted that the record contained some pictures in which K.R. looked younger than his recorded age and some in which he looked over 18. RP (April 20, 2022) at 408.

With respect to the ROA, the State did not argue that Mr. Pasley actually caused harm of a sexually violent nature. RP (April 25, 2022) at 688. It argued only the second-prong definition of an ROA: that Mr. Pasley's encounter with K.R. created a reasonable apprehension of such harm. RP (April 25, 2022) at 688-91.

The State's theory was that Mr. Pasley was aroused by the power he exerted over his victims, and that he therefore preferred victims who did not have the capacity for consent. RP (April 25, 2022) at 564, 689-91. The State conceded that K.R. had the capacity to consent, but it argued that he was nevertheless a "substitute victim" because he was "embarrassed by the sexual contact." RP (April 25, 2022) at 650, 670-72, 738.

The trial court adopted the State's theory. It found that Mr. Pasley's encounter with K.R. met the second-prong definition of an ROA because it created a reasonable apprehension of sexually violent harm:

Mr. Pasley's explanation of this event, combined with his later conviction, including his statement that he made in the document called "Statement of Respondent on Plea of Guilty" and the testimony of Detective Reynolds shows beyond a reasonable doubt that the act of Mr. Pasley created a reasonable apprehension of harm of a sexually violent nature in the mind of an objective person who knows Mr. Pasley's history and mental condition.

Although [K.R.]'s chronological age was 18, and the court did not have evidence that his physical development was that of a pubescent male, given [Mr. Pasley's] prior offenses, the significant age difference, Mr. Pasley's knowledge of some impairment by [K.R.], although not specified, and the fact that the event was at Mr. Pasley's home in the living room, similar to the situation as [P.D.]'s experience, this act would create a reasonable apprehension of harm of a sexually violent nature.

RP (April 26, 2022) at 761-62.

Mr. Pasley appealed, arguing the evidence was insufficient to prove an ROA, beyond a reasonable doubt, where it was insufficient to prove his sexual contact with K.R. was non-consensual. BOA at 27-33. Division Two affirmed in a published opinion holding: "consent is not the crux of this case" and

"[c]onsent is unrelated to the ROA inquiry in the case before us."

Op. at 13-14.

D. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Court of Appeals' published decision merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because it involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. To Mr. Pasley's knowledge, it is the first time any court has held that consensual sexual contact can satisfy the ROA prerequisite to indefinite civil commitment.

Civil commitment is a "massive curtailment of liberty." In re Harris, 98 Wn.2d 276, 279, 654 P.2d 109 (1982) (quoting Humphrey v. Cady, 405 U.S. 504, 509, 92 S. Ct. 1048, 31 L. Ed. 2d 394 (1972)). Laws abridging liberty interests violate due process unless they are narrowly tailored to further a compelling state interest. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Det. of Albrecht, 147 Wn.2d 1, 7, 51 P.3d 73 (2002). Accordingly, when the State seeks to civilly commit a person, due process requires that it prove the person is both mentally ill and currently dangerous. Foucha v.

Louisiana, 504 U.S. 71, 80, 112 S. Ct. 1780, 118 L. Ed. 2d 437 (1992); Albrecht, 147 Wn.2d at 8.

As a matter of due process, the State must prove an ROA in order to prove that a person is currently dangerous. <u>Albrecht</u>, 147 Wn.2d at 8; <u>Young</u>, 122 Wn.2d at 40-42.

As noted, the State argued a second-prong ROA theory in Mr. Pasley's case: that his encounter with K.R. created a reasonable apprehension of sexually violent harm. RP (April 25, 2022) at 688-91; RCW 71.09.020(13).

The SVPA provides a relatively narrow definition of "sexually violent" harm. RCW 71.09.020(18). This definition includes an attempted or completed:

act defined in Title 9A RCW as rape in the first degree, rape in the second degree by forcible compulsion, rape of a child in the first or second degree, statutory rape in the first or second degree, indecent liberties by forcible compulsion, indecent liberties against a child under age fourteen, incest against a child under age fourteen, or child molestation in the first or second degree.

RCW 71.09.020(18)(a), (d). It also includes foreign convictions for offenses comparable to those listed above, and attempted or completed:

Murder in the first or second degree, assault in the first or second degree, assault of a child in the first or second degree, kidnapping in the first or second degree, burglary in the first degree, residential burglary, or unlawful imprisonment

if proved beyond a reasonable doubt to have been committed with sexual motivation. RCW 71.09.020(18)(c), (d).

Non-consent is a necessary element of every harmful act listed in these statutes. See RCW 71.09.020(18)(a) (defining "sexually violent offense" to include only acts of rape or sexual contact accomplished by force or involving victim under the age of consent). Thus, to prove Mr. Pasley committed an ROA, the Department had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he engaged in an act creating a reasonable apprehension of *non-consensual* sexual contact.

Division Two found the State met this burden, analogizing Mr. Pasley's case to Det. of Anderson, 166 Wn.2d 543, 550, 211

P.3d 994 (2009) and <u>Detention of Froats</u>, 134 Wn. App. 420, 438, 140 P.3d 622 (2006). But the ROAs at issue in <u>Anderson</u> and <u>Froats</u> were indisputably non-consensual.

In Anderson, the sexual activity in question involved several of the respondent's co-patients institutionalized at Western State Hospital. 166 Wn.2d at 545. To prove these sex acts were ROAs, the State presented testimony that "at least three of the patients were incapable of consensual sex." Id. at 547. And the respondent himself admitted that he "took sexual advantage of at least two these patients; he described his relationships with them as "deviant." Id.

Unlike the State in Anderson, the State in Mr. Pasley's case conceded that K.R. was capable of consenting to sexual contact. RP (April 25, 2022) at 650 ("we are not arguing that [K.R.] could not consent to sexual contact"). And unlike the respondent in Anderson, Mr. Pasley did not describe his encounter with K.R. as deviant or predatory. On the contrary, Mr. Pasley testified that he

recognized K.R. as a fellow "fluid" man and engaged him in conversation to confirm this was true. Ex. 29 at 91, 94-95.

This was consistent with testimony from both Dr. Abbott and Ms. Jones, who opined that Mr. Pasley was still working to reduce some cognitive distortions but now fundamentally appreciated the importance of consent. RP (April 20, 2022) at 371-72, 407-10; RP (April 21, 2022) at 584, 624-25. Even if the third-degree assault plea suggested he misunderstood K.R.'s perspective on their encounter, this misunderstanding is nothing like the predatory acts at issue in <u>Anderson</u>. It is not enough to overcome reasonable doubts that Mr. Pasley poses an ongoing threat of sexually violent harm. See RCW 71.09.020(13).

Mr. Pasley's case is similarly distinguishable from <u>Froats</u>. The respondent in <u>Froats</u>, who had a 30-year history of rape and molestation against young children, made sexual advances toward a fellow inmate who had "the developmental age of about five years." 134 Wn. App. at 423-27. There was no dispute about consent: the evidence showed the inmate responded to Mr. Froats's

advances by assaulting him. <u>Id.</u> at 427. And Mr. Froats later described the incident as one in which "[h]e was trying to love [the fellow inmate] in the way that God loved him," which an expert witness testified was common code for pedophilic predation. Id. (alteration in original).

Like Mr. Pasley, Mr. Froats argued that his alleged ROA was properly viewed as an attempt at a consenting adult same-sex encounter. <u>Id.</u> at 435. Unlike Mr. Pasley, Mr. Froats conceded (and other evidence also showed) that the encounter was not, in fact, reasonably viewed as consensual. Id. at 437.

By analogizing Mr. Pasley's case to <u>Anderson</u> and <u>Froats</u>, and by holding that "[c]onsent is unrelated to the ROA inquiry," Division Two ignored the SVPA's definition of "sexually violent" harm, which include only non-consensual acts.

E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

This Court should grant review, hold that non-consent is a critical element of "sexually violent" harm under the SVPA, and reverse the order civilly committing Mr. Pasley.

I certify that this document was prepared using word processing software and contains 4,208 words excluding the parts exempted by RAP 18.17.

DATED this 22nd day of March, 2024.

Respectfully submitted,

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC

ERIN MOODY

WSBA No. 45570

Attorneys for Appellant

FILED 2/22/2024 Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

In the Matter of the Detention of:

No. 56944-2-II

DERWIN LERON PASLEY,

Petitioner.

ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION

Petitioner, by and through counsel, moves this court to reconsider its November 21, 2023 opinion. After consideration, we deny the motion. It is

SO ORDERED.

Panel: Jj. Lee, Glasgow, Veljacic

FOR THE COURT:

Veliacic, J.

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

In the Matter of the Detention of:

No. 56944-2-II

DERWIN LERON PASLEY,

PUBLISHED OPINION

Petitioner.

VELJACIC, J. — Derwin Leron Pasley appeals the trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law that he is a sexually violent predator (SVP). Pasley challenges the sufficiency of the evidence that he committed a recent overt act (ROA). He also challenges the pretrial exclusion of a portion of his testimony as hearsay and claims his counsel was ineffective for failing to re-raise this issue during the trial.

We hold that sufficient evidence supports the trial court's findings and conclusions that Pasley committed an ROA. We also hold that the trial court erred in excluding evidence as hearsay, but the error was not prejudicial and does not merit reversal. Finally, we hold that Pasley's ineffective assistance claim fails because counsel's decision to refrain from objecting to the exclusion of hearsay evidence did not prejudice him. Accordingly, we affirm.¹

¹ The State also pursues a cross appeal in the alternative should we not affirm the trial court proceeding. Because we affirm, we do not reach the State's alternative arguments.

FACTS

I. BACKGROUND

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