FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/19/2024 10:44 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 102894-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of:

DERWIN PASLEY,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

JOSHUA CHOATE, WSBA #30867 MARKO HANANEL, WSBA #56592 Assistant Attorney General 800 Fifth Ave., Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104-3188 Ph.: (206) 389-3017

OID #91094

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The fact-specific issues presented in Pasley's petition for review do not warrant review by this Court. Pasley relies exclusively on RAP 13.4(b)'s "substantial public interest" factor to justify review. But Pasley's argument relies on a misreading of the Court of Appeals decision. The Court of Appeals held only that, on the facts "of *this* case," taken in the light most favorable to the State, consent was not "the crux." Op. at 15 (emphasis

added). That was both correct and specific to Pasley's individual case. Given the limited applicability of the facts of Pasley's ROA to other future SVP ROA issues that may be litigated, Pasley fails to show that review is warranted.

A. A "Recent Overt Act" is Just One of Several Elements in an SVP Trial

The issue in this case concerns the sufficiency of the evidence establishing that Pasley committed a "recent overt act." A "recent overt act" means "any act, threat, or combination thereof that has either caused harm of a sexually violent nature or creates a reasonable apprehension of such harm in the mind of an objective person who knows of the history and mental condition of the person engaging in the act or behaviors." RCW 71.09.020(13).

That Pasley committed a recent overt act was only one of several elements that the State was required to prove at trial. In this appeal, Pasley does not dispute that he has been convicted of a "crime of sexual violence" or that he "suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder." RCW 71.09.020(13). Nor

does he dispute the third component of the SVP definition: that he is "likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility." *Id*.

B. The Court of Appeals Sufficiency of the Evidence Decision Does Not Warrant Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(4)

1. The issue Pasley raises is not presented by the facts of this case

The issue Pasley identifies in his petition for review is not presented by the facts of this case. Pasley seeks review of whether "consensual sexual activity may constitute a 'recent overt act'" in an SVP civil commitment trial. Pet. for Rev. at 1. But this case does not involve consensual sexual activity. Because Pasley challenged the sufficiency of the evidence supporting the recent overt act determination, appellate courts view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. *In re Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d 724, 744, 72 P.3d 708 (2003). Pasley's petition for review ignores this standard and continues to make arguments that view the evidence in a light most favorable to himself.

In the light most favorable to the State, Pasley's conduct was decidedly *not* consensual. Indeed, Pasley pleaded guilty to criminal assault as a result of his sexual abuse of K.R. Ex. 2; Ex 32. In the related court documents, Pasley described his actions as "intentional" touching "in an offensive manner" and specifically agreed there was a "substantial likelihood" that he could have been found guilty of more serious charges, namely Indecent Liberties with Forcible Compulsion (a "sexually violent offense") and Rape in the Third Degree. Ex. 32 at 10; VRP 556.

Further supporting the conclusion that Pasley's sexual assault was not consensual is Pasley's own testimony that K.R. made a phone call shortly after the second incident during which he looked distraught and was crying, a clear and obvious indication K.R. was distressed by what occurred. Ex. 29 at 92, 103. K.R. later left Pasley's house without telling him in the middle of the night. Ex. 29 at 104-05.

Viewed in the light most favorable to the State—as it must be in this sufficiency of the evidence challenge—Pasley's sexual abuse of K.R. was clearly not "consensual." Because the facts of this case do not present issue that Pasley seeks to raise, Pasley cannot satisfy RAP 13.4(b)(4).

2. The Court of Appeals decision is fact-specific

The discussion of consent by the Court of Appeals is fact-specific and does not create a bright-line rule. In an appropriate case, evidence that an act was consensual may be relevant to an argument that the act did not constitute a "recent overt act" for purposes of RCW 71.09.020(13). Here, the Court of Appeals held only that, under the facts of this case, which involved a vulnerable victim who was similar to past victims of Pasley's sexual offenses, Pasley's arguments about consent were misplaced.

The Court of Appeals decision repeatedly emphasized that "[t]he determination as to whether an act qualifies as an ROA is fact specific." Opinion at 10. Specifically with respect to the issue of consent that Pasley raises, the Court of Appeals stated that it "is not the crux *in this case*" and that "[c]onsent is

unrelated to the ROA inquiry *in the case before us*." Op. at 13-14 (emphasis added). By continuously limiting its analysis to "the case before us," the Court intentionally avoided making rules of general applicability. The fact-specific holding is not "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by" this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

3. Pasley is also wrong on the merits

In any event, Pasley's novel and unsupported arguments on the merits do not warrant review. Pasley's fundamental argument is that "[n]on-consent is a necessary element" of proving a recent overt act. Pet. for Rev. at 21. Even if that issue were presented in this case, it still would not warrant review. Tellingly, Pasley cites no case law in support of this argument, nor does he cite the statutory definition of "recent overt act" in RCW 71.09.020(13). The statutory definition does not mention consent:

"Recent overt act" means any act, threat, or combination thereof that has either caused harm of a sexually violent nature or creates a reasonable apprehension of such harm in the mind of an objective person who knows of the history and mental condition of the person engaging in the act or behaviors.

RCW 71.09.020(13). Instead, Pasley relies on the statutory definition of "sexually violent offense" in RCW 71.09.020(18). Pet. for Rev. at 21. But the term "sexually violent offense" is not part of the definition of "recent overt act."

Pasley's argument that non-consent is an element of proving a recent overt act is also inconsistent with existing precedent. For example, in *In re Detention of Hovinga*, 132 Wn. App. 16, 24, 130 P.3d 830 (2006), the Court of Appeals held that a person's act of masturbating while covertly following girls around a store constituted a recent overt act without any discussion of consent. Similarly, in *In re Detention of Broten*, 130 Wn. App. 326, 335-36, 122 P.3d 942 (2005), the Court of Appeals held that a person's act of being in a park at a children's playground without a chaperone was a recent overt act given his specific factual history. These decisions are inconsistent with

Pasley's argument that the State must always prove non-consent beyond a reasonable doubt in order to prove a recent overt act.

Under the statutory definition of "recent overt act," the Court of Appeals was correct that, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, "an objective person" who knew Pasley's mental condition and long history of sexually victimizing similarly vulnerable victims could reasonably apprehend future harm of a sexually violent nature from his sexual assault of K.R. RCW 71.09.020(13).

Here, the State's evidence on this point was overwhelming. The State presented expert testimony from Dr. Fox that Pasley's behavior with K.R. "[was] consistent . . . with the pattern of behavior with the other victims." VRP at 107. Dr. Fox noted examples of K.R.'s "cognitive limitations" including that K.R. struggled to know his right side from his left, and when asked about his progress in school he answered that he was "really good in math" and had made it to "times." VRP at 109-10. Dr. Fox stated that Pasley's sexual conduct with K.R.

also supported Pasley's paraphilic disorder diagnosis because K.R. appeared much younger than his chronological age, had impaired intellectual ability and emotional maturity, and Pasley acknowledged he was sexually aroused by having power and authority over his victims. VRP at 118, 625. Pasley himself agreed there was a "substantial likelihood" that he could have been found guilty of a sexually violent offense as a result of the assault of K.R. Ex. 32 at 10; VRP 556.the

The State presented sufficient evidence such that a rational trier of fact could find that Pasley's assault of K.R. creates a reasonable apprehension of sexually violent harm and thereby constituted an ROA. Pasley's novel arguments, unsupported by case law and untethered from the statutory definition of "recent overt act," do not satisfy RAP 13.4(b).

///

///

///

///

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny discretionary review.

This document contains 2,983 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.